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~ INCONTROVERTIBLE EVIDENCE .

Fwﬂ Eat;mmt in these pages can be backed up by dorti-
The background of the Centrala case, stretch-
first portrayed, and the circumstances

which led ipmévitably to the Armisiice Day rioting in 1918 are
clated: then comes the story of the

audf,mf, aﬂmﬁted or gupprﬁaaﬁd during the trial of the lﬂﬂﬂ%tﬂal*
ists who defended their hall against a mob; and lastly the

SfEdavits of six jurors who admit that they were terrorized into

returning 2 verdict of guilty.
O the final page you are told what }f{lﬂ can do to set the

Centralia victims iree.
We must work against herculean forces which seek to keep

these mep in prison. According to its own annnal report, the
Northwest Logging Operators’ Association, organized in May,
1‘353, set aside $55,000 for its first year. 's fight to crush the JW.W,
And the Federated Industries of Washington is admittedly active
i efforts 1o dishar Elmer Stuart Smith, the yvoung attorney who
was tried with the Centralia unionists and acquitted. These two
organizations operate a blacklist against all LW.W. members,
having devised an elaborate card index system to gei around
the state law which prohibits blacklisting of workingmen.

Y you want mere information about the LW.W. and the

lomber monepoly, read the following: -

“The LW.W.; A Study of American Syndicalism,” by Paul
F. Brissenden New York: Longmans, Green and Company.
1920, | |

“The Casual Laborer,” by Catleton Parker. New York:

.;";__I_‘Iﬂfﬂi.ff}‘l.lfi? Brace and Howe. 1920

- MAn American IdylL” by {:crrﬂeha Parkf:r Boston: Atlantic

Mﬂﬂth ¥ PI‘E{EH '. 19]9

I The T umber Induﬁ’tnﬁ Part 1, Standing Timber,” by Herbert

T

::Zf"'jf:'f{fmx Smith, U5 Cmmmmsmner of Corporations. Washingion:
= Buréan ‘of Cﬂrgoratmns DS Departmen_t_ of Commerce and
'-:'."::-}'_Iieab::mt 19471, o -

rhe. Lﬂmb&r Iﬂdustry and Tts kaers “Chicago: Indus

f;.f:-?trrai Wearkers of th:‘: 'W{::rid 1%1 West Madison street., 1923,
'::'__.__'_‘.Fﬁ,-?ﬁ 25 Ln,ﬂtf: o



EIGHT MEN BURIED ALIVE

\ IGHT industrial workingmen are huried behind iron
bars and stone walls in the state of Washington for
5 a crime they never committed. They are in prison at
Walla Walla. - Seven of them were sentenced to serve from
25 to 40 years, and one was found insane, but for some in-
~explicable reason hé also was placed in the penitentiary,
They were tried in 1920 for the alleged murder of Lieut:
Warren Grimm and the seven were convicted. But actually
- none of them committed any crime. They were accused
and found guilty solely because they were members of the
- LW.W. and had fought against the exploitaizon policies of
the Puget Sound lumber barons, and because they defended
‘their meeting hall in Centralia against an Armistice Day
- mob that had come to drive them from ‘the town.

The defendants were tried before a tmanifestly prejudiced
judge, who refused to permit the defense to introdice any
of a mass of evidence showing that a group of Centralia
business men had conspired to attack the T.W. W hall, but
admitted all evidence offered by the prosecution to indicate
- that the defendants had conspired to fire on the Armistice.
- Day parade. | | :
>1x of the jurors who tried the case have admitted under
- oath that they were terrorized into convicting the accused
men; and declare- that they now believe them. innocent.

“Yet no action by the courts on the strength of the jurors’
confessions ‘is ‘possible, ~ Under the laws of Washington, "
-the time is long past when any new evidence can afféct the .
-Centralja verdict. Only Governor Lonis Hart has authority  ©
“to act; he could commute the sentences of the prisoriers and”

“set them free by a stroke of his pen. * R
- Hart knows ‘the facts. | But he ignores them. He is.a -
stubborn man, made governor by hig business, principally by -



A

ihe lumber interests, and serving his spousors consistently.
When the pms.&cutian’ﬁ svidence-giving 1t the ajentraiia tr}al __
had grown weak, when it had utilized most of its repertaire -
of spectacular tricks to assail the integrity of ihe men on
trial, 1t asked Governor art. to send troops. Hart sent
them ; neither trial judge nor sheriff knew of the call—and
there had been no disorder, nor any indication of such.

Years of Struggle in the Lumber Woods

Centralia’s tragedy was the culmination of vears ot bitter
struggle in the Puget Sound logging couniry—a struggle of
the workers to obtain adequate wages and decent working
conditions. ‘Their Aight was agaibst the big lumber monop-
olists, a small group of capitalists who had obtained incred-
ibly tich timber holdings from the government for a song.
These magnates exploited the workers to the himut. Food
in the logging camps was pooT. Men had to carry their own .
blankets, which got lousy hecause there were no facilities
for washing them ; they slept m crowded bunk-houses where
sweat-saturated garments steamed in stove-heat and per-
meated the air. There were no baths, and todets were
unsanitary, Working days were long—ten, eleven, twelve
Hours. . . . Rain falls six months in every twelve in the
Puget Sound region. Much of the time the loggers were
pushing through wet brush, Their foremen drove them
hard. And the ‘work was dangerous, many men bemg kil-
led by falling trees and by saws or chains breaking. |

Usually the logger was a single man. The conditions of
his work ordinarily precluded his marrying and settling in
a home. Necessarily he was a migrant; as the trees were -
cut down in one locality he moved on to another. And
~almost always the job was far from cvilization. When the
season’s work was done and the logger, with his wages in .
 pocket; went to the nearest sizable town, harpies and vultures
“lay in wait for him.  Drink and games and women offered .
allurement, and.often when the tired and lonely pil rim
from’ the ¢amps woke up his money was gone, his Eead ;
-ached, and-he wonderéd how he got into the.alley.

7 UHE was ' the victim, ton, of the job shark, the dishonest
employment agency. To get a.job he was compelled to pay-
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a fee; then like a3 not, alter he worked .2 lew days, be
would be fired without cause, and another worker would
be sent to take his place; that man also would be fired in a
few days. And each time the job shark would divide the
tee with the camp foreman. . . . There was a hospital
graft in most of the logging camps. FEach logger was re-
quired to pay $1 or $1.25 a2 month, for which he was given a
hospital ticket. This ticket specified a list of diseases for
which no treatment would be given, and this list included
- most of the diseases a lumberjack was Hkely to get, T, how-
ever, he did go to a2 company hospital for treatment, he was
~usually given mncompetent attention, these hospitals for the
most part being poorly equipped, cheaply run, and not even
kept in a sanitary condition. ~Often a3 man left the hospital
permanently crippled because of surgical blunders there.

He was a man’s man and a husky, the lumberjack; be had -
- t0 be muscular to survive; he lived his days out-of-doors
- and-he had the mdﬁpendmt spirit which characterizes men
on the frontiers. - And the time came when he rebelled
against these mnjushces,

| S&wmiﬂ Workers Long Explo ited

Among the sawmill workers conditions were different.
- Many of the miils were situated in towns, so that the em-
plﬂ},fees were able to live in homes, m{}qtl}f rented houses.
And a goodly percentage of the mill workers were married.
Because they had families to think about, they were easfer
to control than the loggers; less liable to organize or strike.
.Sﬁenﬂy for 2 long time they put up with what was dealt to.
~them.. Wages were low; accidénts were many, fingers-and
 arms-being lopped off by maﬂhmer because of the speed up
._s}rstem and Tack of safety devices: and asthma and tuber-::u—-
~losis ‘were prevalent, ff{}m the’ breathmg of wood-duge, 7

Repeated attemipts were made to unionize Iahor in the*.'.-f'

- Puget Sound forests, but all these attempts failed—until the . |
~Tadiistrial W{}rkers of the World entered that field,  The" -
LW-W. wads born in 1905 at Chicago.: ‘At thit time a
-good many lumber workers were members of the Western,
" Lumber Union. * Promptly they affiliated with the T W W.
_'and began a series of strikes at scattered pmnts Slﬂwiy”j..j*
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~ pamps and sawmills. o | S
L Crneism . of conditions in the basic industries came to a4
fead 1 a great free speech fight in Spokane in 1909,
Spurred by tocal husimess mierests, the municipal and county -
authorities sought 10 drive ouf the indusirial umonists,
Casaial workers by hundreds poured in to prove their Cons s
stitptional right to speak.  Time after time they hiled the
‘jails, eighteen hundred being arrested. Their trials con~ .

tinued: for months, They wor.

ar the strikes and resultant improvements in the indus-

trial sityation, for several years, were sporadic, There were
hitr gaps ‘4 Iabot’s lines. In 1912 a move was made to close
these gaps. Locals of the LW.W. in various- communities

in the Nerthwest were consolidated into a single industrial

union, combining l0ggers and sawmill men.

A F. of L. Fails to Organize Woodsmen

' fere aid there fhey forced a change for the better m 'i:}gglng:_.:;;_"'i

One vear later the American Federation of Labor sought

to oprganize Jumber workers in the Puget Sound country,
ht failed. The A, F.of L. 13 split into innumerable groups,
or crafts, which act independently of one another. When
onc of these crafts has a grievance and quits work, the
oiher crafts in the same industry keep on working and thus

- aid the emplovers to break the strike. Witness the 1922

railrond strike.  But the LW.W, is based on the idea of

Cie Big Union. When any group ot workers in a given -

industry has reason to strike, every member of that - indus-

trial upion lays down his tools, and all operations are tied up.
 And throughout all these years of struggle the LW WL

L '

-Has been armed with incontrovertible facts, which are more”
-potent and obviously more dangerous. to the prevailing eco-"
- nomig system than any other farce which might be turned’:
. against it Unremittingly the industrial unionists have. =
o huilgd embarrassing questions at big timberland OWNers,.
i asking: “How did you get it?” For vast forest tracts had:*
" ipassed into private hands, either as a gift from the govern-.
“lmment ar at a cost of $1.25 an acre.. In. 1911 the Nartherfiss

-

?“ﬂﬁt Railway Company, the Weyerhaueser Timber Corm- 7
" pany, and the Southern Pacific Railway Company owned,



238 Istlion feet, ov nearly 1 per cont of all our privawly
awned Limber.

There was imvhf ey 19212 at f‘xhs:ra feen, nostratesc lansher
center on Gray's Harbor, 15 miles from the Pacific Ocean,
Workevs in the sawmills struck for o $2.50U dauy wage.
Quickiy the police %%Epg}ﬂf‘i n, broke up ihe ﬁifk&:‘:*‘ hings,
iatted piﬂikﬁ‘iw by scores. Strikers’ sives, with babies in
arins, were %sﬂck&{i down by water from fire-hose. Strikers
were clubbed, some being maimed for life. An armed mob
ot business men raided homes and hoarding houses, dragged
strikers out, herded 150 of them into box-cars at Hﬂf L3
{(a nearby tmvn) sealed the car-doors, and was abo ut to
deport the prisoners 1o the Oregon cattle- pmm when the
mayor stopped this illegal proceeding.  And fnally the
strikers won, and the LW, W, gained In numbers.

Everett, in 1916, was the next scene of open conflict, This
is a drab city reared amid the stumpage of forest land
cleared by John D, Rockefeller and some of his alles. Tt
18 On Paigﬁrt sonnd, 30 miles north of Seattle.  Tobless men,
arrested as vagrants, built #ts streets. . . | Wage-cuis had
followed an industrial depression. In the spring of 1915 the
Everett shingle-weavers struck against a pay-reduction,
Strikke-breakers, gun-men, clubs, injunctions and promises
defeated them, and they returped to work with 2 promise
that wages would be raised as socon as the shingle market
became normal again,

Everett Employers Break Wage Promise

But a vear later shingle prices climbed higher than in
years, and there was no raise. The lntﬁmazmm} Shingle
Weavers’ Uniocn, though sparse in ranks, made a bold plm
Tt demanded restoration of the 1915 wage scale thronghout
its whole jurisdiction by May 1. Most mills in the North-
west capitulated. But in Everett all employers except one
re udlatcd their promise. Strike-breakers and thug% were
hrﬂughf i, and pickets were manhandled. -

“Then the Industrial Workers of the World mﬁwﬁfta or-
ganize the 1Gg‘gﬁf:} and sawmill men of the Hﬂrthwﬁiqt on a
gigantic scale.  Five hundred delegates met in Seattle and

(4



tormulated plans.  Jjames Rowan was sent to Everett to -

: for industrial uniomism. Rowan was 5

test the sentiment _
logger, had been long 1 the struggle, and was 2 competent -
speaker. Byt Sheriff Donald McRae arbitrarily barred free
spetch, Flected by unmon 1abmr?*McRae had h&tjﬁf}ygd the
workers, Fle usurped the authority of the city police chief,
and jed repeated raids against the 1.W.W., deporting many .~
amionists. Invariably McRae was drunk. .

ﬁheriﬁ‘ and Mob Brutalize Inciuﬂtria.lisﬁs

Tor several years street speakers had addressed audiences
on Wetmore avenue near Hewitt avenue, Wetmore was a
side street, Hewitt a main thoroughfare, Hastily an ordi- -
 nce Forbidding speeches there was drafted, and the mayor
signed it without putting the measure 1o a reading before the
council, so obviously it was invalid. On October 30, forty-
cne LW.W. menibers came from Seattle to test this “ordi-
nance.” McRae and 200 special deputies loaded them into
quta trucks and carried them to a lonely spot in the country.
In a cold rain the captives were compelled to run the gauntiet
hetween two lines of deputies, who rained blows upon their
heads with pick-handles, gun-butts and- blackjacks. At the
end of this gauntlet the prisoners stumbled onto the sharp
blades of a railway cattle guard. One mobber was a phy-
sician named Allison; with a club he dislocated one victim’'s
showlder. Sheriff McRae broke the bridge of a man’s nose.

. Wet this brutality did not stop the spread of mdustrial -
" union sentiment. Immediately a free speech commuttee an- 2
“nounced a meeting to be held at Wetmore and Hewitt ave-
- rities on Sunday, N-;m_amber'& . . . On that day the :

| pagsenger steamer Verona left Seattle with 250 persons o
‘Board, mostly - 3LW.W.. members.  Others followed on the®:
- gteamer, Calista, . Word of their departure had been phoned: ;
Cte Everett. . . L All mill whistles there blew at one o'clock.”
+gnd a multitade of biisiess men deputized for such an occa- i

“* gion- hurried to the ‘Commercial Club, armed themselves
itk shotguns and with nfles helonging to the .S, Naval -

 Militia, and proceeded to th city dock. They outnumbered
-~ the incoming TLW.W. members five to.one, - - e



When the Verona touched the dock, Sherniff McRae jerked
his revolver oul of s holster and velled: “Vou can't
land here ! -

“The hell we can't 17 ered somebody on the boat.

There was 3 shot {rom the deputies, then a volley, and
more voileys. Eleven [LW.W, members were slatn: six
of these fell wounded inte the water nr were shot while
trying 1o swim to safety, and their bodies were carried out
to sea ; and many on the boat were wounded. Two {iﬁpﬂfiﬁﬁ
were killed. 5

Eleven . W. W. Murdered; Nobody Punished

None of the business men was arrested, but 74 LW W,
members were ladled, charged with mur&armg Deputy Sher-
M Jetterson Beard., Adter four months, Thomas H. Tracy
was tried in Seattle and was promptly acguitted. It was
shown that Beard was killed by éross-fire from a Commer-
cial Club member who was -:,Lmhllﬂhﬁd at ancther peint in
the harbor. (ases against the other 73 accused industrial-
iste were then dropped, and all were freed.

That was. in the spring of 1917, The war came, and
lumber prices soared, W*ﬂ-:rps of loggers in the Northwest
were down; the working da:e: was ten or more hours, lving
condifions m many camps were growing worse. Far and
wide the T.W.W, had been pmhmg or g"tmmtmn in June
a strike was called, log production stopped, and presently
the sawmuills had to shut down for lack of raw material,
Demands of the strikers mcluded the eight-hour day; clean
bedding, supplied by the f:mph:;}f,r Shgi-!r‘fﬁl*“}}cithﬁ laundry
facilities ; and decent food. -

I..oudl}r the employers set up the cry that the strikers were
obstructing the war. Two investigations were begun, Presis
dent Wilson appointed a mediation commission headed by
Secretary of Labor William B, Wilson, with Felix Frank-
furter as coumsel, Also the President appointed Carleton
H. Parker of the University of Washington faculty to re-
part on conditions in the lumber ms;!ut;-tr} of the Northwest.
Parker and several fellow-instructors went into the woods
as lumberjacks, and made an intensive siudy, Parker re-
ported by telegraph that all the strikers’ demands were jus-



cihed. Later the mediation commuission backed up that re-
port, calling the eight-hour day indispensable, and criticising -
the blind policy of many employers i opposing 3 O
President Wilson telegraphed te the Lurbermen’s Protec-
tive Association urging that its members concede the strikers’
detmands—as 3 patriofic measure. But the association,

which had tried to induce the loggers 10 continue produc-

tion—as a patriotic measure—refused to grant this request

Exile, Torture and Death for Unionists

Weeks went by, with no umber production in Washing-
ton, Idaho, Montana, or Oregon. Seventy thousand work-
ers were idle. Frequently the press asserted that the strike
had been broken, but these reports were baseless. Attempts
were made to bring in strike-breakers, but the union picket-
lines were too strong. Then stories were published alleging
that the strike was inspired by German agenis and financed
by German gold. Mobs were stirred to action, industrial
‘halls raided, strikers beaten and deported from various
‘towns, and hundreds of T W W. members were arrested with-
out warrants and never tried. One striker was burned to
death in a wooden jail in Troy, Montana. At Yakima, Sedro
Woolley, and other points in ‘Washington, unionists were
stripped ngked, flayed with rope ends and tarred and feath-
ered. One was tortured and hanged at South Montesano.

;Meanwhile the country was in the grip of war hysteria,
and the deluge was turned against the I.W.W. ‘All over the
land men were jailed on the slightest pretext, tarred and .
feathered, beaten, and lynched. ln Bisbee, Arizona, 1,186
striking copper miners, mostly LW .W.'s, were rounded up by
the sheriff and many armed deputies, loaded into cattle cars, -
and were abandoned im-the center of the New Mexico des-.”
“ert in July. Frank Littte of the LW.W. general executive .
hoard, lying in bed with 4 broken leg in Butte, Montana, -
was seized by a party of business men in the night, dragged -
behind an automobile through the streets, unsexed, and:
. hanged to a railway trestle. § - .

"“In Chicago 101 TW.W. members, including most of the’
- organization’s officers, were tried before Judge Landis on
- charges of sabotage, destruction of property, and chstruct-



g the war through speeches or Wwriting. Many of the
defendants came from the Nprthwest lumber woods.  The
Hve-months trial was a mob’s holiday.  All accused were
convicted, most of them being smprisoned for ?Eﬂng terins.
At Kansas Cliy, Kansas, apnother group was tried-on suni-
lar charges and convicted, Subsequently the appeals courts
in both vases threw ount ag upproven the sabotage and prop-
erty destruction counts. , . i

“Our ‘conspiracy” to oppose the war,” said 22 of the Chs-
cago defendants in 2 letter from prison to President Hard-
ing, “consisted in pointing out the economic causes of all
wars and in showing that unemployment, reaction and
misery invariably follow in their wake. We fried to show
that war, in spite of all pretense about its noble purposes
and beneficial effects, usually results m making the rich
- ticher and the poor poorer.” -

Five Die in Jail While Awaiting Trial

While awaiting trial on kindred charges in Sacramento,
California, 53 1.W.W. members were held for 64 days and
nights 1o a single jail cell measuring 21 by 21 feet. There
wasi’'t rpom encugh for all to e down af once; they had
to take turns sleeping, on a damp concrete floor. It was
winter, and each man had only one cotion blanket. Food
was bad; samitary conditions filthy. Five died, of tubercu-
losis or inHuenza. The survivors were all convicted,

By autumn the striking loggers in the Northwest were
Jdow 1 funds, So they instituted what they call the job-
strike, They returned to work. “‘Employers victorious,”
cried the newspapers. But this announcement was prema-
ture, Back on the job, the unionists resorted to a slow-
down process which was heart-breaking to the employvers
m the face of opportunity for huge war-profits. Every re-
tumed striker werked as if he were new to the woods, By
going back to their jobs, the T.W.W. members coyld keep
strikebreakers away, and the employers would have to feed
them. After working a few days on a ten-hour schedule,
a crew would stop work on a certain day at the end of eight
hours. They would all be fired, would draw their pay, then.
proceed te another camp and repeat the process, This wens
ot all over the Northwest, {or six months | |



Confrpnied by a sifumtios they could net master, the al-
hed lumber emplovers Ainally gave 1 to the sirfkers. Draw-

g the mantic of virtue about themselves, they anacunced
on March 1, 1918, that f:hf_} bad decided voluntardy o grang
all the demands of the strikers—as 2 patriotic mcasure.

Bui persecution of wnwn workers hf:;ﬁ: on throughout the
war, and gilterward, with the LW VY, bearmyg the brunt of
the attack. . . . Strangely, one may think, the industral-
13t5 10 the Northwestern woods did not sirike back at those
who injured them, They did not {ack courage, as they had
often. demonstrated.  But the L'W.W. orgamzation had
long counseied s members to avoid viclence as a weapon,
becanse it invanably brought down the wrath of the enemy
all the harder. So i was customary for the loggers to leave
their halls o the mobs when they got word of an intended
ratd,  Centralia, however, was to furnish an exception.

Among those who led the emplovers’ fight against the
19317 loggers” sirike was F. B, Hubbard, head of the Eastern
Ratway and Lumber Company, which operated 2 sawrmill
i Ceniralia.  Another was a lumber trust attorney, W. H.
Abel of Montesano, who wore a deputy sheriff’s badge and
used cowrt injunciions agamst the strikers,

BMemorial Day Parade Raids Ome Hall

There was a Red CUross parade in Centraha on Memorial
‘Day, 1918, The 1WA, then occupied a two-story gray
weoden buidding on g side street.,  Hubbard led the tail-
end of the parade m a ratd on that hall. lLieut. Warren
srimim, who had been guarding army bll}'mﬁtﬁ i Viadi-
vostok, was present. He was seen “waving two SAmerican
flags and howling like a dervish.” The raders went through
the hall “hike a swarm of rats”, dragred the 1W. W, mem-
bers out, hifted them by the ears onto motor trucks, sped
with their captives to the mext county, dumped them out,
and warned thetn not to come back. Hubbard appropriated
a writing desk from the hall. For months the gray build-
mg, with all its windows broken, remuned unoccupied, the
LW. W, not attempting to re-establish a meeting house, but
continuing organization work quietly in the woods.
Hubbard was then president of the Lmplovers” Assoca-

-



tion of Washington, That Organizalion, on Aprit 20, TGS,
issued 2 comhdental bulletin ¢ s motrhers from its head-
guarters m yeattle saying . “}iaﬁp husiness ane of the con-
tron of radicals and the LWow ~ Suppress the agi-
tators. . . . Hang the Bolshevists” Op Mav 31 another
builetin: “Put the LW W, in jai» "’

Blind Newspaper Seller Ig Deported

For a year after the 1918 raid things were quiet in Cen-
tralia, Then in June, 1919, Blind Tom Lassiter. 1 man whao
sold LW.W, and other labor newspapers, cams back at
Highi from & carnival o his 1itﬂE‘, dr}"g{}{.}(}gd}{}g h&fﬁﬂ 0 ﬁﬂiﬁ
that all his possessions had been burned by 3 mch, On the
door was a placard: “Get out of town and stav opt,” Las-
siter bought another cot and cooking uécﬁﬁﬁiiﬂ;fﬂpiﬂniﬁhed
his newspaper stock, and stayed. Several days lafer, 2l of
his new belengings were burned. Sull Lassiter stood his
ground. Finally, some local real estate owners seized the
blind man m the center of town-in broad daviight, threw
him into an automebile, journeyed to ancther county, dump-
ed Lassiter into a ditch, and wamed him never to veturn.
Charges against the kidnapers were filed with County Prose-
cutor Herman Allen by Flmer Stuart Smith, a voung at-
torney who had incurred epmity by handiing claims for
workers against the lumber interests. Allen refused to act.

That sumomer the LW.W. opened 2 new hall, acquiring
two-story quarters on Tower avenue and occupying half of
a building which housed the Roderick Hotel, conducted by
Mr. and Mrs, James McAllister. Also the Citizens® Pro-
tective League of Lewis County was born, with George F,
Russell, secretary of the state employers’ association, presid-
ing at the initial meeting, This league was designed “to
cope with the labor sitwation.” ¥. B. Hubbard was made
chairman and empowered to perfect his own crganization.

Warren Grimm, who was a lawyer, made a speach at a
Labor Day picnic, posing as an authority on Bolshevism be-
cause of his service in Siberia, He cautioned his hearers
to beware of “the American Bolsheviki— the Industrial
Workers of the World.” Later Elmer Smith happened to
go to Grimm’s office on business. Grimm asked what Smith



thought of s speech. Smith candemned it assailing the
deportation of Lassiter as “disgraceful Americanism.” Free
speech, he contended, was a fundamental right of all ctizens.

“1 can’t agree with yoi,” said Grimm. ““That's the proper
way to treat such a fellow.” |

On October 19 the Centralia Daily Hub published a news
story headed: “Employers Called to Discuss Handling of
“Wobbly’ Problem.” All employers were urged to attend
2 meeting to be held at the Elks Club pext night. The Hub
mentioned that until lately the IW.W. had had no meeting
hall in Centralia since the raiding of the old hall in 1918.

Next evening one hundred biisiness men gathered at the
Fiks Club. Their chairman was William Scales, local com-
" mander of the American Legion. F. B. Hubbard was the
principal speaker. " He dencunced the ILW.W. and declared
i+ should be driven out of town. County Atterney Allen and
Police Chief Hughes then informed the audience that the
T W.W. could not legally be evicted, as it had violated no
aw. Hubbard grew wrathful. “This is a damned outrage!”
ne cried. YIf T were chief of police I'd have the Wobblies
out of here within twenty-four hours!”

Hubbard Appoints Secret Commitice

Chairman Scales said: “I'm not in favor of rauding the
I.W.W. hall myself, but I am certain that if anybody did
raid it, no jury in the land would ever convict them.” Scales
next anpnounced that he would appoint a committee to deal
- with the situation, “its inner workings o be seeret.” DBut
it was Hubbard who appointed the committee, Eyidence
in the hands of the Centralia. defense indicates that -this
committee included Warren Grimm, Arthur McEliresh,
Lieut. B. S. Cormier, and others who were active in the
subsequent raid. One of those at that meeting was a switch-
man named Henry, a railway brotherhood meiber. Xe
was asked to aid in the anti-I.W.W. movement, but
declined, whereupon Hubbard called him a “damned
skunk.” Henry passed the word along to some ol the
L.W.W. members, -And Palice Chief Hughes told William
‘Merriam, member of the Lewis County Trades Counci,
that the business men were preparing to raid the industrial



hall and drive the *Woebblies” out of town. The trades
vounci] discussed the matter at a meeting; Harry Smith,
brother of Klmer Smith, the attorney, was at this meeting,
He told Elmer about it,

On October 31, the Em ‘iuyt.ra Agsociation of Washing-
ton 1ssued a hulietm saying: “Jail the radicals and deport
them, . . . DSince the Armistice these radicals have
started again. Only fwo communities m W ﬂﬁhiﬂgfﬂﬂ allow

LW . W, headquarters”

Protection Asked of Police and Public

- Hearing of the raid plan, the I.W. W, secretary, Brist
omith, appealed to the police for protection. So did Mrs.
McAllister, owner of the building in which the hall was
located. Chief Hughes said he could promise nothing.
‘When the mdustnahﬁts learned on November 4 that
therﬁ was to be a parade on Armistice Day and that the
route would be several blocks longer than uqual s¢ that the
procession would pass the LW. W, hall, Britt Smith drafted
text for a leaflet headed: *T0O THE CITIZENS OF
CENTRALIA WE MUST APPEAL” Approved at an
[LW.W. meeting, 1,000 copies of this leaflet were printed,
~and a copy was left at practically every home in Centralia.
Sunply it told of the preparations to raid the industrial
hall, and asked the public for a sguare deal, The circular
~said: ““The profiteering class of Centralia have of late been
waving the flag of our country in an endeavor to incite the
lawless element of our city to_raid our hall and club us out
of town, . . . They have msgured editorials in the FHub,
falsely and vlcmusl attackmg the I,W.W., hoping to gain
public approval for such revolting crlmmaht}r These proi-
“iteers are holding numeérous secret meetings to that end,
and covertly inviting returned service men to ‘do their b1d~
ding. . . . They say we are a menace; and we are a
menace to all mﬂhﬂcrats and pilfering thieves, Never did
the I.W.W. burn public or private halls, kidnap their fel-
low citizens, destroy their property, club their- fellc:ws ot
of town, bnc:-tleg, or act in any way as law-breakers,
Qur GHI}? crime is solidarity, loyalty -to the working class,
and justice to the ﬂpprESSEd ?
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Consdlting Attorney Elmer Smith, the TW.W. members
were informed that they had a right under the law to de-
fend their headquarters (which was also the home of Britt
Smith). They had a legal night to use force 1f necessary to
defend themselves or their fellows against superior numbers
coming ostensibly to do violence against them. And under
the law they were not required to remain on the premnises
that were to be attacked. This principle is well established
in the court decisions of many states. -

Armistice Day came, and the parade. The LW.W. were
© prepared. Some watted within the hall: others stationed
themselves at points outside. The parade marched past the
I.W.W. hall to the end of the route, then countermarched
and returned. As the final section, comprising Centralia
ex-soldiers, came abreast of the hall, a command was given
tn halt.. Then the ex-service men broke ranks and the at-
tack was on. But the mob was met by shots from the hall,
Warren Grimm was fatally wounded in the deorway, and
Arthur McElfresh and Ben Casagranda close by,

Marcher &dmits Soldiers Attacked First

Two days later, at the coroner’s inquest, Dr. Frank Bick-
ford, member of the American Legion and one of the
marchers, testified: “When the porade stopped wn front of
the 1. W . hall I offered to lead o raid if enough would
follow. But others pushed chead of me, forcea open the’
door, and then the shots came from inside” S

Into and through the hall the mob swarmed. Some of the
I.W.W, prisoners were taken prisoners inside, some escaped
via the rear. Wesley Everest, ILW.W. railroad man and
ex-soldier, was pursued by the raiders. - He fired back at
them, and killed Pale Hubhard, nephew of the man who’
had instigated the attack, When Everest was captured, the-
mob string him up twice. Repeatedly he was bayonetted;
finger-nails tore strips of his flesh from the eyes down-
ward, he was unsexed with a razor, and then his bleeding
mutilated body was thrown into a jail cell within sight of
the other I.W.W. prigoners.. That might ‘he was. dragged
behind an automobile a mile and a half and hanged from
the Chehalis river bridge.



Coroner David Lavingstone reporied to an Liks meet-
mg that Hverest "broke out of jal 1 went to the bridge, and
jumnped off with a rope around his neck,  Finding the rope
too shoert he climhed back and fstened on o lopger one;
jumped off agawn, broke bis neck, and then shot himself
full of holes.”

Plob Controls Town for Nine Days

That night aud for several days there was a maniumt foy
miles around. The mob controlled the town; it took scores
of citizens into custody, and grilled them; searched the
homes of everybody suspected of sympathizing with uslon
tabor, without warrants; bamished the Associated Press
correspondent ; and censored all news. For nine days and
nights it put the LW W, prisoners through the third degree,
]ames Mclnerney, who had been under hre at verelt, was
taken out of iail with a rope around his neck, and the rope’s
end was put over a telephone pole and drawn up until Me-
Inerney’s face became livid. The mob demanded a con-
fession’ *fmm mm. Mcinerney 'tt:uid them to go to hell
“Guess we've ot the wrong man,”” said the crowd, and took
him bhack to jasl. . . . Beneath Loren Roberis’ cell win-
dow voices w f}uid sound: “Well, we got that guy Everest;
we'll get Roberts next if he don’t come clean.” Roberts was

made insane by this mental torture. For nine days Mike
‘3}165:11:;111 had no more than 15 minutes’ sleep. Tom Morgan
was broken to the point where he consented to testity Egamst
his fellow-members. Morgan was held in jail several
months, and when released left for parts unknown,

~ EBleven men were tried on a charge of having conspired
to commit murder in the fust degree, and for the slaying
of Warren Grimm in carryiig Gut the alleged conspiracy.
Ten of these were members of the Industrial W orkers of
the World and the eleventh was their attorney, Elmer Smith,
who had advised them that they had a right to defend them-
selves, even with guns, against superior numbers, -

The trial was staged at Montesano, 40 miles northwest ol
Centralia, and extended from jamnr} 25 to March 13 in
1920, ]udg& John M. Wi 50N of the Superior Court pre-



sided. When the prosecution concluded itspresentation: of
evidence, the court released Bert Faulkner, finding no case
had been made agamst him. On March 12 the jurors re-
tired to deliberate, remained out 20 hours, and then re-
turned a verdict which Judge Wilson rejected as unac-
ceptable under the law. |

They had acquitted Elmer Smith and Mike Sheehan, had
declared Loten Roberts ihsane, adjudged Eugene Barnett
and John Lamb guilty of murder in the third degree, and
found the others guilty of murder in the second degree.
There is no such crime as third degree murder in the state
of Washington, s the jurors were sent out to reconsider,
Two hours later they brought in a revised verdict in which
Attorney Smith and Sheehan were acguitted, Roberts was
found insane, and. the following were declared guilty of
second degree murder: Eugene Barnett, John Lamb, Britt
Simith, Bert Bland, Comuwmodore Bland, Ray Becker, and
James McInerney.

Verdict 1s _Gnnmdi&tiﬂn of Charge

The verdict was int keeping with' the court’s instructions,
but it was a direct contradiction of the charge against the
defendants. They had been accused of conspiracy to com-
mit murder in the first degree and the carrying. out of such
a conspiracy. But second degree murder is defined by Wash-
ington statutes as unpremeditated murder. If there was no
premeditation there could not have been a conspiracy.,

And with that vetdict was a special plea from the whole
jury saying: “We, the undersigned jurors, respectfully pe-
tition the court to extend leniency to the defendants whose
‘names appear on the aitached verdict” . . . Yet when
Judge Wilson had the seven convicted defendants before
him again on April 5 he dealt to them the highest sentence
possible under the law—25 to 40 years in prison. Ques-
tioned about the case later that day, Judge Wilson ad-
mitted that the verdict was a contradiction of the charge.
“But,” he said to a newspaper man who had raised the
question, “vou’ve been around trials enough to know that
lawyers don’t always know the law, and even judges don’t
always know it.”



Montesano, seai of Gray's Harbor county, was chosen
as the tral-scene after the defense had asked for a Cl‘langE
of venue because of high emotional tension and bitter prej-
adice existing in Lewis county, in which Centralia is sip.
uated. But as the weeks went on, the lumber interests cap.
ried their anti-IW.W. propaganda into every corner of
Gray’s Harbor county, and the defense demanded a secong
- change of venue. On Januwary 3, 1920, Judge Wilson ag-
mitied that a fair trial of the case could not be had in Monte-
sano, and 1indicated that he. would grant the srequested
change. Five days later, he reversed his attitude and de-
creed that Montesano must be the scene of trial

Judge Delivers Enlogy of Slain Men

- From the first, the odds were heavily against the de-
fense, Judge Wilson was cbviously prejudiced. He had
delivered a eulogy of the slain paraders at an Elks memonrial
service on December 7 in the very hall where the *business
men of Centralia had met to devise ways and means to drive
the L W.W. out of town. ... The Lewis County Bar Associ-
ation had pledged its membership not to defend any I.W W,
member, no matter what charge was placed against
him, This was a clear viclation of the oath which every
lawyer takes when admitted to the bar. . . . Immediately
after the Centralia tragedy, Attorney General L. L. Thomp-
son ordered the arrest of all . W.W. members found any-
-where in the commonwealth. Ejght bundred were thrown .
dnto jail.” Only three attorneys i Washington dared defend
LW.W. cases.. George F. Vanderveer of Seattle, former
county prosecutor there, was retained in behalf of the Cen-
“tralia men. He had been one of counsel for the defense in
‘the Everett trial. Tied up with other cases, he could not
take up the Centralia fight until two days before the date
of ‘trial. Meanwhile the prosecution, -with unbounded
- resources, had two and a half months for preparation. |
.- 5ix attorneys went into court for the prosecution. Her-
man Allen, prosecutor for Lewis county, was pushed aside,
and-the legal attack was led by W. H. Abel, previously
mentioned as fighting the 1917 strike;, and by C. D, Cun-
ningham of Centrahia, attorney for F. B. Hubbard. Each
‘was retained on a $5,000 vontract from Lewis county.



Niany members of the American Legion were brought
fo Montezano, and were detasled to sit in the courtroom.
Pifty or more were in consfant atlendance at the trial, their
eves aumost coptinually fixed on the jurors. These Legion-
atres were paid 34 a day and expenses for this service, and
were lodged in the ¢ity hall. BMost of them bore side-arms.
That the proweemtion had 2 hand in arranging for the Le-
gionaires’ presence is evidenced by 1 telezram sent by Prose-
cutor Lunmingham to Representative Albert Tohnson at
Washmgion, 1), U0 “Ex-service men desive to wear uni-
forms ar LW, W, trial at Montesano., Is there any federad
law te probibit#7  Johason answered that “former soldiers
have clear legal right to wear uniforms at TW W, trial”

There were two outstanding issues in the caze: 1. Which
side was the aggressor-—the ex-service men in the Armistice
lray parade, or the IL.W. W, members who were stationed in
their hall and at other points? . . . 2. Did Fugene
Barnett fire the shot which killed Warren Grimm?

Right of Self-Defense Is Clear

The prosecutors contended that the industrialists had
nred in <old blood upon the parade in keeping with a pre-
conceived plan.  The defense densed this, declaring that
the ILW.W. members zimply defended themselves against
attack by superior numibers; that under the law they had
full right to prepare for such defense, and to use guns if
they had reason to fear wiclence. . ., . Some of the in-
dustnialists awaited the expected mob-attack from the
vantage point of windows in the Arnold and Avalon hotels
near by on the opposite side of the street; others were on’
seminary Hill, g thousand feet away. Bert Bland took the
witness stand and frankly admitted that he was on the hill,
and that he fired a rifle, but declared that he withheld his
fire until he heard the shouts of the mob and the shots in
the wicinity of the hall. In answer to criticism from the
progecutors, the defense cited various court decisions hold-
ing that a person having reason to fear atiack from others
felonicusly inclined was not hound to remain upon his own
premises and thus risk losing hig life, but was privileged to
defend those premises from a safer location outside.



. Fudge Wilson permitted the prosecubion fo introduce all
evidence which tended to support the theory that the LW.W,
had conspired to fire upon innocent passing soldiers.  Bui
he refused to et the defense introduce any evidence which
was offered to show that many Ceniralis businegss men had
conspived to vaid the industviad hall on Anuistice Day, He
prohibited the defense from submitiing to the jury evi-
dence of the following facts:

 That 100 Centralia business men met in the Eiks
Chub on October 20, 1919, and Jaid plans to drive he
LYWAY, oot of town,

That the county prosecutorand the police ciuel in-
formed the meeting that the TW. W, bad committed
no violation of Jaw and could not lawiully be bamished.

That F. B. Hubbard then declared: “This iz a
damned outrage. If 1 were chied of police I'd have
the Wobblies out of here within 24 hours.”

That Willlam Scales, chairman of the meeting, said
-that while he did not favor raiding the LW, W. hall
he was certain that no Amerwan jury svould convict
anybody who might raid it

That there had been an attack on a hall previeusly

oecupied by the TW.W, in Centralia, this attack being
led by F. B, Hubbard.

That on this occasion the raiders dragged oui the
industrial anidnists, iifted them by the ears onio motor
trucks, and transported them to the next county, warn-
ing them never to come back.

That Blind Tom Lassiter suffered the loss of s
news-stand and all his possessions by burning at the
hands of a2 mob; and that Lassiter subsequently was
kidnaped by business men on the main street of LCen-
tralia in daylight, thrown into an automoebile, and
dumped inte a ditch in the next county.

That the LW.W. had been warned that their hall
"would be raided on Armistice Day, asked for police
protection, and were dented 1.
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That when they heard of this plan, the TW.W. issued
1,00G handhbills, appealing to law-abiding citizens of.
Centralia for a sguare deal; and that these handbills
wetre carried to every house in town.

Four copies of newspapers which fold of meetings of
business men who were planning to drive the LW, W. from
town were excluded by the court,

Judge Wilson took the ctirious position that the defense
must first show an overt act by Warren Grimm before
he- would permut introduction nf any evidence tending to
show conspiracy by him and his fellow-marchers. He re-
fused to admit testimony concerning any utterance or actjon
by Grimm in connection with the carrying out of the plan
to raxd the ILW.W. hall, on the ‘ground that seme special

physical movement of the man must be shown a roment

befﬂr_e the shooting actually started. It was not sufficient
to show that Grimm was clﬂse to the hall and had fallen
ot of the parade ranks.

Two Baw Grimm in Doorway of Hall

‘Two defense witnesses testified that Grimm was in the
very doorway of the industrial hall just before the shots
were fired ’fI‘l}Il’l inside. These WEI’E Guy Bray, 16, and
Jay Cooke, 41. Bray 1s related by marriage to Lient. Frank
Van Gﬂder second in command in the parade. Shortly
before the procession started, Bray said, he saw Van Gilder
- walking with a large man in umfﬂrm Bray asked who
the man was, and Van Gilder said it was %Tarreﬂ Grimm, -
The witness described the parade. As the ex-service men
~halted, he declared, he saw two men break from the rear -
ranks and rash toward the hall, They kicked in the door,
he said, and then the shooting began. “Van Gilder and the
large man he had said was Grimm were then five or ten;
feet north of the hall door,” Bray said. “I saw thﬁ large.}}}ﬁ
man put both hands to his stomach, and double up.’ e

Jay Cocke testihed similarly with re gard to Grimm’ s
presence in the doorway of the hall, As they left the court::
room after testlfymg, bn::rth Cooke and Bray were arrestedi
on charges of perjury, and efforts were made to break
down Bray’s testimony by means of the third degr-ea | But ;;fij:ﬁ



obviously these arrests were made simply for psychologicsl
effect, The two wiinesses were never iried Ior perjury,
the cases against them bemng dismussed after the tmain

Testimony by Lisutenant Van Gilder for the prosecution
placed Grimmn half s block away from the industrial hatl
Van Gilder explained Grimm’s act of dropping out of the
line of march by saying he had iallen back to remmd the
military sections to salute “the old scldiers i the review-
g stand,” and later rejoined him at the head of the serv-
ice men. He swore that Grimm was shot while facing
sontheast and while his back was toward the hali.

“Something seemed to jar him,” Van Gilder testshed, “He
turned very pale. 1 said, "Are you Wty and he saud, "Yes)’
T told him te go to the hospital and get dressed. He started
across the street and when he had gone a few paces be bent
over, his hands on his stomach, but went across.” |

In summing up the case, Attorney Vanderveer argued
that Van Gilder’s testimony was open to guestion on this
point : that Van Gilder, a soldier, unhurt, did not even offer
to help his mortally stricken comrade to safety. Any nor-
mal man in such & circumstance would have aided his fnend,
Vanderveer contended. If Van Gilder is to be accepted as
normal, then one must conclude that Grimm wasn’t at Van
Gilder’s side when the former was shot, but that he was
where Bray and Coocke testified they saw him—in the door-
way of the IW.W. hall. Evidence concerning the fatal
bullet, which will be detailed farther on, strongly supposts
this betief. QOther defense witnesses declared they saw a
large man answering Grimm’s description coming from the
direction of the hall door; he was holding both hands over
his abdomen ; they sighted him at several pomts between the
hall entrance and the street corner., |

But There Was No Reviewing Stand

Van Gilder had said that Grimm had dropped back to
remind the marchers to salute the old soldiers in the review-
ing stand. Joseph Smith of Chehalis, an overseas veteran
wha participated in the march, gave vital testimosty for the
defense on this point] While the parade was being formed,
he said, the commander of the Chehalis division mstructed
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his men to bﬁ ready, when they reached the reviewing stand,
£ gﬁ& thﬁ eYEs rght' salute—a quick turning of the head.
They never came 1o any veviewing siand, h’iuﬁiﬂ‘fz sard, and
ﬂ%‘iégé?ﬁfgfg there wamt't any. Along the march north from
towi, aﬂﬂihﬁ' marcher named Shiclds or Scales said to
Smith: “Youll see lots of excilement after we urn to
come bacik.”

Later a man who had been pomted out to Douth az Liew
tenant rimm carne along the hoe, Douth declared, and one
of the marchers ﬁailef-ﬁ out: “What about that rﬁwfwﬂg
stand 7 . . . “We'll have eves vight when we get there,”
said Grimm. . . . “Will there be anything doing when
we start hack?” some other marcher asked Grmm.

“Sure there wil” Grimm replied, according to Smith.

“While coming back,” Smith declared, “Herman (abbons,
another marcher, said to me: "’W’L"re going to give the
Wobbly holl eyes right as we go by At the Wobbly hall
this command was given, [ saw the men hreak ranks, leap
ouf, and run toward the hall. T saw them kick n the door.
Then shots came.”

‘I Offered to Liead a Rad—--"’

But the strongest piece of tﬁbtammw for the defense was
given by Dr. Frank Bickford, member of the American
Legion and marcher in the parade. “"U the trial he repeaied
the testimony he gave at the coroner’s inquest: “When the.
rarade stopped in fm'ﬂt of the TW. W, hall, I offered to lead
a raid if enough wc}u‘d follow. But others pushed ahead
of me, fmrmd open the deor, and then the shots came from
ingide.” -

No effort was made by the prosecution to shake Dr. Bick-
ford’s testimony. 1t let him go with practically no cross-
examination ; and neither of the special prosecutors, Abel
nor Cunmﬂgham made any reference to the Buqun;;rrd testi-
mony in hig clesing statement.

Fugene Barnett was accused of firing from a window of
the Avaldn hotel, some 300 feet south on the other side of
the street from the hall, the shot that killed Grimm. Elsie
Haornbeck, book-keeper in a garage opposite the Avalon, told
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the jury she saw a thin-faced man in the hetel window on
Armistice Day, shortly before the shooting ; and after many
heipless pauses and appealing glances at rrosecutor Abel,
she identified Barnett as that man, She had sworn that she
had pever seen the man in the window from that wild day
til] she saw Barnetl in court three moenths later; and made
it appear that she was able to recognize Barnett solely be-
cause of the vivid unpression his face made upon her mem-
ory on November 11, But in cross sxamination, Attorney
Yanderveer trapped her into admitting that zhe had twice
been shown photographs of Baruett by the prosecution.

. . And Bamett was not a thin-faced man, as she had
testified. His face was oval in shape, as photographs re-
veal, both in November and during the trial. That i3 mani-
fest even in a picture made of him after he had been in the
hands of the mob for days,

Tames McAllister and his wife, proprietors of the Rod-
erick Hotel, swore that Barnett was in the lobby of the hotel,
only a few feet from the two of them, all during the rioting;
and that he was unarmed, Other witnesses testified that he
lingered in town after the shooting, and later in the day rode
his horse ten miles to his home—at an easy gait, He was
observed by numerocus persons along the way, being edsily
recognized because he wore a big black hat and cowboy
chaps, a costume in which he had previously and frequently
been seen by many acquaintances. . . . Mrs. McAlhster
was taken prisoner by the mob on Armistice Day and heid
in a rat-infested jail 22 days, incommunicadeo,

Grimm was shot by an LW.W,, the deiense admutted, but
not by any of those on trigl. The fatal builet was fired from .
a 38-55 rifle, according to medical testimony for the prose-
cution. And such a°gun was owned by John Doe Davis,
who escaped in the confusion of the riot. The state itselt
was instrumental in proving this point; for it insisted on
giving weight and credibility to a “confession” of Loren .
Roberts, the boy whom the defense contended was made
insane by the mob; in that statement Roberts declared spe-
cifically that the man who fired from the Avalon hotel was
Davis.  Alienists were summoned by the prosecution to
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<how that Roberts was sane daring the trial, but the jury
found that the boy was insane and irresponsible.
Witnesses for the prosecution asserted that Ben Casa-
granda and Earl Watts, paraders, fell wounded arcund the
corner from the IL.W.W. hall, But certain established facts.
tend to refute this testimony-the fact that bloodstains were
found on the sidewalk in front of the hall; that Casagranda
and Watts were shot by hard-nosed bullets which went clear
through their bodies; and that the only hard-nosed bullets
 found by the prosecution’s own witnesses were lodged in
buildings opposite the front of the hall. One may judge
from these circumstances whether these men were shot by
hullets fired by Wesley Everest, who was-stationed mside
the hall and who had the only gun which used hard-nosed
bullets, or whether they were shot around the corner. |

Two Men Carry Ropes in the Parade

Despite the barring of the mass of testimony oftered by
the defense to prove a carefully formulated plan for attack
on the I.W.W. hall, Attorney Vanderveer did succeed 1n
showing by various witnesses that two prominent ¢itizens of
Centralia cartied ropes in the Armistice Day parade. These
were Postmaster T. H. McCleary and the Rev. F. W,
Thompson. When the state employers’ association had
wanted an extinct hanging law in Washington revived a
little while before, Thompson. lectured in many communi-
ties in behalf of that law. Prosecutor Abel asked one wit-
ness who had testified about the ropes if she knew “whether
Mz, McCleary owned a cow and a calf.” Seemingly he
was trying to set up an alibi for McCleary, But the witness
didn’t know. McCleary himself testified that he had picked
up “an old piece of rope” and wused it in a playful tug-of-
wart with another parader. s . . ~

~T. W. Siddle, railroad brakeman, and his wiie watched
the parade move through the business section toward the
I.W.W: hall. McCleary and Fhompson both carried. ropes.
and McCleary still had. a rope when he came back after the
~ shooting, Siddle testified. Subsequently Siddle saw.a big
- blood spot on the sidewalk in front of the hall. Three other -
witnesses also declared they saw MeCleary carrying a rope.
28 |



Thomas Meaden, tailor, testified that he was standing
near the LW, W. building, and heard lieutenant Cormier,
dommander of the marching soldiers, order the column to
halt and face the hail. “Then came cries of ‘Let's gol’
‘Come on?” and ‘Let's get *em! ” he stated. “At first they
trotted in the advance on the building, Then they charged.
There were about 20 of them in the advance guard. These
were. followed by the whole body of troops. I saw them
rezch the doorway.  There was a crash of glass and wood
as they battered down the door. I went toward the hall.
1 recall hearing then the shooting from the hall When I
approached nearer T saw a wounded man lying on the side-
walk just at the entrance to the hall. 1 his was Arthur
McElfresh.” e |
- Meaden’s testimony was corroborated by Forrest Camp-
hell, candy maker. Campbell said: 1 saw Cormier Stop
the parade and almost at once a group rushed the hall. Two
or three men were in the lead. They were runmng. 1 heard
the glass crash and the door swing open. I saw McEliresh
Jying on the sidewalk in front of the place” Campbell said
“he heard men shouting: “Let’s go!” and “Who's going to
lead us?” just as the rush started. Later, Campbell said,
he was taken to the American Legion headquarters and
grilled for six hours. His statements then, it was shown,
were completely in accord with his festimony at the trial,

- Qourt Ignores Bvidence About Mob Leader

Judge Wilson declared that Vanderveer must - show a
direct connection between Warren Grimm, the slain parader,
~and an overt act in the tragedy, before he could have a wit-
ness explain why the I.W.W._ expected violence. ““That is
not the law,” replied Vanderveer. “lhe law says that to
“prove self-defense we need only show sybstantial reasons

[

for apprehension. 1f the defendants had reason to hélieve -

that they were to be attacked by a crowd, including Grimm,
they had the right to prepare to defend themselves.””
The court’s ruling was made in the face of a preponder-
ance of testimony showing that Grimm, or a man closely an-
swering his description, was close to the LW.W. hall, even
in the very doorway, and that during the raid this man was



wounded in the abdomen, Grimm was the only man wounded
in this manner,

When Flmer Stuart Smith, defendant, took the witness
stand, he was prohibited by the court from answerng these
questions put by Vanderveer: “Ihd yon appeal to the

governor for protection against the raids: ?’” . . . “When
did you appﬁal? .. . “Ind the governor respﬂnd to the
appealr”

During the trial V aniderveer found it necessary .to ask
for a warrant for a Mrs. Carpenter of Centralia, alleging
that she had attempted to tamper with a defense witness,
Helen Martini, 13, declared that Mrs. Carpenter had asked
her if she couldn’t forget some of the things she intended to:
testify. The woman admitted to Vanderveer that she had
done th1_s, giving the excuse that Helen was a Campfire girl
and that she thought it would be better if some things
could be forgotten.” Helen Martii was a vital witness.
She testified that she saw the parade from a rear window
of het home, and corroborated the statements of Jay and .
Ray Cooke that there had been a long break in the pa-
raders’ ranks just before the shooting.

“I'll Hang Every One of Them.”

One juror was known to have been immical to the dem
fense from the beginning. ~ This was Harry Sellers, a huge,
flabby telephone company employve. ©On the day that Judge
Wilson sentenced the defendants, Attorney Vanderveer
presented an athdavit irom a woman who declared she had -
heard Sellers say: “If I get on that jury I'll hang every
goddammed one of them F or when they kill smldlera they
kil your best “friends.” Bat this affidavit made no im-
. pression on the court, and no attentmﬂ was paid to the j ]urv '8

plea for leniency.

So seven of the defendaﬂts were sent tﬂ pnscm and
Roberts-to an insane asylum, from which he ‘was later re-
moved to the pemtenﬂﬂr}e “The defense carried s case to
~ the supreme court, and lost again. That was in 1921,

But as months paSSEd some of the jurors became troubled
by conscience, and finally six of them signed affidavits ex- .
~ pressing belief that all the defendants were innocefit. These -
~affidavits revealed that most of the jurors were terrorized.
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into retummg a verdict of gmity, they had feared that in
the event -::}f & dl“-&g‘rﬂﬂmﬂﬂt “innocent men mught have
- been hung.”

Jurors W. E. Inmon and E, E. Sweitzer were first to come
forward. Inmon was a donkey engineman and Sweitzer a
farmer. On May 15, 1922, they took oath that during con-
sideration of the case, Juror Hﬂ?“?’jf Sellers stated in sub.
stance: “Ewvery one of them is gmiftj: and ought to be hanged
no wmatter what the evidence shows” Intnon and Sweitzer
averred now that “the evidence showed, as afhants verily
believe, that all the defendants were mmnocent . . . and
that not one of said defendants . . . 1;111&:1 injured,
wounded or harmed any one.” | |

Jurors Admit They Were Terrorized

They declared they had believed *that in the event of a
hung jury, a new jury would have been called and in the
face -:::f the hysteria that then existed, innocent men nught
~ have been hung, that rather than have this happen these
affiants believed it was better to have a second degree ver-
~dict against seven defendants and acquit two, thus leaving
the two free to work for the release ot the. ﬂthfﬁi‘% and leav-
ing opportunity to spread the truth; that in the event of
another trial and these affiants were to sit as iurors in this
case, and were permitted fo receive in ewdfmce what they
- now know, their verdict . . . would be’ not gialty.”’

It an interview, Inmon added that one juror “was afraid
of his life. . . . [ remember when we . . .- got fiirst
sight of the soldiers. . .. . There were men in that court-
. room you could-a knocked the1r eyes off with a pitchfork
and never touched their noses.: "My God! one Df them
zaid to me, ‘they’re here to keep us fmm being shot.””

E. E. Torpen, retited farmer, in a sworn statement, de-
clared that “when the jury rehrﬂd .. . a ballot was
taken and it was unanimous in favor of acquitting the de-
fendants. . . The jury finally decided on the wverdict -
as rendered bemuse of the understanding the jurcrs had -
with one another that they would recommend ﬁxtreme_
~ leniency to the court in rendering his sentence . . . and

this was agreed tn:: by all of the jurors. . . . 1 _V_EI‘}I}T



believe also that if these mien had not been affiliated with
the LW.W. they would never have been convicted.”

But after that first ballot calling for acquittal, the jurors
began to discuss what it wotld mean fo everybody con-
- cerned if they freed the defendants. Arouund the corner
were the troops, drilling in the streets when the jurors went
to meals. Out in the courtroom wete the stern-faced
Legionaires. And Sellers remembered that he was patriatic,
and bad a duty to perform regardless of the evidence.
. . . Only a part of what happened in the jury room has
been made public, but enough has come out 10 show the
tremendous psycholagical pressure which weighed against
those jurors. They were farmers and wage-workers and
small business men, and they knew the power of the lum-
ber interests to break them. . . . Adfterward, when the
hysteria had died down, the six got themr courage bacl.

Presence of Troops Big Factor

P. V. Johnson, canstruction worker, was next 1o sign an
offidavit.” On May 29, he stated that “if the jury bad bheen
permitied to consider what [ have since learned was a
premeditated attack upon the hall, the jury would never
have returned a verdict of guilty. It is my firm belief that
the men are not guilty of murder in any degree; that Warren
Grimm was killed while advancing upon and engaged in
an attack upon the LW, W, hall.” Johnson said that “one
of the most determining clements in securing conviction of
the seven defendants was the bringing in of a large number
of soldiers a few days before the conclusion of the trial;
+hat these men were camped close to the court house and
the jury was paraded in sight of them; that these soldiers
were brought in to protect-the jury, as the jury was led to
believe; that we were informed that a thousand or more
I.W . W. were in hiding in the woods near the towin; that this
tended to create a feeling in the minds of the jurors that
the I.W.W. organization was composed of outlaws and
that therefore the organization was on trial as much as the
individuals, . . . 1 am making this affidavit because I
want to see justice done, and it is my belief that justice 15
not ohtained through lawless attacks on peaceful citizens.”

On June 1, Juror Carl O. Hulten, [armer, signed a sworn
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statement acknowledging that the affidavits of Sweitzer,
Inmon, Torpen and Johnson “coincide with my views of
said trial” and expressing his helief that “the defendants
did not have a fair and impartial irial and there 15 not now
i my mind an abiding conviction of their guilt of the mur-
der of Warren Grimmt: that the said trial was conducted
under extreme excitement and pressure which made it im-
possible to conduct a trial in a normal manner and leave the
jury free and unhampercd in their deliberations.”

One more juror cleared his conscience on October 20,
1922. U. G. Robinson, carpenter, foreman of the jury, tool
cath as follows: “During the trial . . . a squad of sol-
diers was brought into Montesano and camped diagonally
across the street from . . . our jury quarters. Nearly
always~while we were out for exercise . . . we could see
these soldiers either marching around the streets or at their
camp. A number of the jurors believed that these soldiers
had been brought in to protect the jury agamnst some threat-
ened assault by the LW.W., and there were three or four
jurors, 2s I now remember . . . who so feared such an
assault that they wanted guns for their own protection.”

Defense Searches For Movie Camera-Man

Search has been made without avail by the defense tor
two alleged eye-withesses of the Arnistice Day raid—a
movie photographer and his assistant. In Awvgust, 1920,
Walter Bland, brother oi two of the defendants, was rid-
ing on a Northern Pacific train between Seattle and Yakima,
and relates that he had 2 ¢hance conversation with a mah
' who said he was a camerz-man for the Pathe Filtn Com-
panyv. This man declared that he and his assistant were in
Centralia on November 11, 1919; that they had set up their
camera opposite the industrial hall; and that they made
pictuures of the raid, pictures which would have shown sol-
diers rushing the hall and soldiers dropping who were shot
while breaking mto the hall.

But immediately after the raid, the Pathe man told Blaad,
he and his assistant were put inta jail and held six hours,
and their camera was smashed into pieces. When the two
were let out of jail, the photographer stated, they were
escorted o a train and watched until they left fown.
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WHAT YOU CAN BO TO HEL?

Only the -:::-::-mbmed action of the working people of.the Statﬂ
of Washington can set the Centralia victims free. They can

malke their indignation felt in many ways. Such strong ;}ressure
‘must he brought to bear upon Governor Hart that he will ne
longer dare to ignore the facts in this case.

HONE:

1. Send money, so that we can put our side of the vase hemre
every man and woman in Washington State. e

2. Write to the General Defense Ci}lﬂﬂlittEE Ejgmf}ung }Gﬂi‘.::;;';}::?:?

E
=,

willingness to co-cperate.

3. Bring this pamphiet to the attention of all Drganiza4G115
of which you are a member, whether labor, civic, or religious,

4. Get those organizations to demand of Governor Hart that .
he uneconditionally commute the sentences of the {Zﬁntmha'-:-?

FrSOners.

5. Have committess appointed to raise funds so that this
pamphlet can be circulated far and wide. -

6. Organize committees to carty. our literature into mills,

You can help this ﬁght by actlng UpOT thf: fr::nlh:rwmg sugges- i\

-

mines, factories, homes and everywhere in Washmgtﬂn State. 4

Afrange routes so that the facts will be placed in every l‘iﬂl’ﬂﬂ-":".;-;'_:_'

there,

7. Send us malhng lists of peaple who -::ught tc:: be mfarm&d-_'

ahc:sut ’EhlS case,

8. Advise the General Dafanse {:Gﬂ‘lﬂ‘llttﬂﬁ of eﬂ.rer}f mmre *_,5r+;,'.1'~t111_~..-:.;='=ﬂ'{i"-fE

| mak# along these lines.

Dn these thmgs qmekl:;r The eight mnncent men Inwnlved." :_

'have been unpnsnnﬁd since 1919

GENERAL DEFENSE COMMITTEE o
16{31 West Madtsnn Street T Chicﬁgﬂ
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